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In Search of Civility:

Higher Education
and the Discourse of Disdain

Candace Mitchell

Oceaniaistheimage of atotally regulated society yet has no regulations.
—Orwellian Linguistics, 1979

James Gee defines discourse “ as a socially accepted association among ways
of using language, other symbolic expressions, and artifacts, of thinking, feeling,
believing, valuing, and acting that can be used to identify oneself asamember of a
socially meaningful role” (1996, p. 131). These behaviors, beliefs, and ‘ artifacts
which of course include on€e’s choice of clothing, shoes, hair style and color, the
manner in which one composes a memo, or addresses a colleague, the degree one
holds, one’ sareaof interest, and soforth, mark oneeither asamember of adiscourse
community, or asan outsider.

In this article | discuss the communicative encounters—oral and written—
between members of two discourse communities—human resources and faculty—
housed within an urban university in the Northeast. | focus on one individual’s
attemptsto articulateand imposeacomponent of her community’ simplicit rulesfor
behavior uponamember of thefaculty. Sincewhat theindividual wishedto enforce
was tacitly accepted as part of the discourse of the community of which shewasa
member, therulecarriedideol ogica weight (Bel sey, 1980; Eagleton, 1984, 1986), if you
will, but was, nonetheless, amorphous within the greater community, i.e., the
university at large. Theeffort to enforceatacit component of adiscoursecommunity
as if that tacit assumption were shared across separate and differing discourse
communitieswithin theinstitution led in the end to atotal breakdown in communi-
cation and to aflagrant misuse of bureaucratic power.

Itisthisinterplay withthetacit assumptionshel d within adiscoursecommunity,
and the concomitant efforts on the part of the community’ srepresentativesto make
thetacit seemingly concreteor real, that bear the crux of thewill to power and deceit
that emerged over the course of one semester of an academic year. Itisthiswill to
power shrouded in acloak of disdain that | seek to uncover.
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The Office of Human Resources

Human Resources (HR) consists of staff charged with overseeing personnel
support services such as payroll, benefits, retirement, medical |eaves, and returnto
work from medical leaves, and so forth, for both faculty and staff. In essence the
principleroleof HRisto maintainthe paperwork necessary toinsurethat theoverall
system—in thisinstance, the university—functions appropriately principly froma
monetary and contractual perspectiveinrelationto personnel. Theoffice hasno say
in such financial matters, for example, related to all ocation of resources to depart-
mentsfor faculty hiringor for infrastructurerepairsand devel opment, for that matter.
Nor doesHR haveany say in mattersrel ated to teaching | oad, all ocation of teaching
assi stants, or anything remotely connected to the academic domain. Asthe name of
the department implies, HR is to serve as aresource to the community in matters
related tothoselisted above. Infact, not solong ago at theuniversity of which | write
the Office of Human Resourceswas |abeled: Personnel Services.

Those who work in HR are “members of the staff” and not “members of the
faculty” and assuch havenot gonethroughtheranksof academic scrutiny or review:
onecanreachan upper level administrativepositionin HRwithabachel or’ sdegree,
or with a degree in administration or management, or one comparable, though
doctorates are now offered in applied psychology with a concentration in human
resources, marking, frommy perspective, an uncomfortableblurring of boundaries
between staff and faculty.

The structure and bureaucratic functioning of HR, in good part, mirrorsthat of
thecorporateenvironment. Infact, aHR department at abank wouldlook muchlike
theHR department at theuniversity of which | write; itwouldjust servevery different
discoursecommunities, i.e., bankers, financiers, tellers, |oan officers, bank mainte-
nance staff, and so forth. It would be rare, though not impossible as noted above,
tofindaPh.D.workinginHR, andif onewereto befound, thePh.D. wouldnot signal
behaviors endemic to academia, for if this were the case, the employee would not
remainamember of theHR staff for very long. Asamember of thestaff of HRaPh.D.
would need to display the behaviorsappropriate to the discourse of HR, adiscourse
that isstrikingly different from the discourse of the academy. Therefore, despiteits
location—housed inauniversity and at the service of faculty and other members of
the academic community, as well as members of the staff —HR does not display
behaviors congruent with faculty. Infact, human resourcesat any university shares
morein common with other departments of human resources no matter the occupa-
tional context inwhich thedepartment issituated. Sharing space and place doesnot
necessitate shared discourse systems.

The Faculty

Thesecond discoursecommunity | consider hereisthat of thefaculty, of which
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| amamember. In choosing as| haveto study the professional world of which | am
apartl am

Obligedtoconfront, indramatized formasit were, acertainnumber of fundamental
epistemological problems, al related to the question of the difference between
practical knowledge and scholarly knowledge, and particularly to the special
difficultiesinvolvedfirstinbreakingwithinsideexperienceandtheninreconstitut-
ing theknowledgewhich hasbeen obtai ned by meansof thisbreak. (Bourdieu, 1984,
P.Xxvii)

Inthisarticle! seek to do what Bourdieu characterizes above: | will break with the
experience involving a series of encounters between HR and myself, my program
director, and my deanin an effort to make sense of an experiencethat madelittle, if
any, sense as it culminated in a climatic communicative encounter and a serious
bureaucratic action of potentially momentousconsequences. I nfact my understand-
ing of the encounters that occurred over the course of one semester after | had
returnedtowork fromamedical |eave did seemto make somesense, or so | thought,
until | was confronted with a very different understanding of the communicative
intent—@Grice' sillocutionary force—on the part of HR at the very beginning of the
second semester of my return (Finegan, 2004, p. 297). Sowhat | had at first thought
to be aminor miscommunication that was quite quickly settled, turned into amajor
confrontation, an assault that | was not only totally unprepared for, but had not
expected at all. Had | expected the confrontation and consequences, | would have
done everything in my power to prevent them from occurring. What | did not
recognize at the outset was* that the problem of cultural interaction emergesonly at
the significatory boundaries of cultures, where meanings and values are (mis)read
or signsare misappropriated. Culture only emergesasaproblem, or aproblematic,
at the point where there is aloss of meaning in the contestation and articulation of
everyday life, between classes, genders, races, nations’ (Bhabha, 1994, p. 34).

Asamember of thefaculty engagedinacommunicativeencounter withamember
of HRregarding my need to comply toatacit policy for returntowork fromamedical
leave, | had no idea initially of the degree to which our—faculty and HR—
assumptions regarding compliance, power, authority, performing one's job, and
basic human decency differed based upon our diverse discourse community’s
valuesand assumptionsregarding theseissues (Fairclough, 1989, 1995; Gee, 1989,
1996, 1999; Giroux, 1992, 2003; Gumperz, 1982, 2001) . Nor did| understandthedegree
to which my medical leave of absence served to resituate me within the university
such that | now was positioned under the control of HR, aswell asfaculty. IlIness
had repositioned me within the institution in such a way that | was denuded
unknowingly of my faculty status, while at the sametime unableto barely compre-
hend, |et alone negotiate the discourse of HR.
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Bureaucratization of the Academy

| arguein thisarticlethat the over-bureaucratization that has become so much
apart of academia servesto undercut a culture of collegiality—and thisis but one
of the discourses of the academy—that has, since the Medieval Period, dominated
faculty practices (Baradat, 1980). In essence, | present a case study and a series of
discourse analyses of oral interactions and written communications between two
membersof HR andtwofaculty members. My analysisdrawsfromtheframework of
critical discourse analysis which defines power in terms of control, and more
specifically situates social power within groups or institutions (van Dijk, 2001, p.
354). With thisin mind, the struggle to be analyzed must be understood, not as an
argument between individual s, but asan ideologically driven, socially-constructed
movement on the part of one community within an institution to integrate its tacit
laws, rules, habits, norms, and general consensusin such away that the hegemonic
practicesrepresented emerged cloakedinaninstitutional validity that wasseemingly
taken-for-granted acrosstheinstitution (p. 354). At theend of theseriesof exchanges
andwrittencommuniquésfromaHR staff member, adean’ sactionsand her response
inwriting to the HR staff member are analyzed aswell.

| arguethat thefaculty membersandthestaff of HR engageinapower struggle—
clearly controlled by HR—defined by ideol ogical dimensionsembeddedindiscourse
recognizing that language useis"imbricatedin social relationsand processeswhich
systematically determine variation in its properties, including the linguistic forms
whichappearintexts.” (Fairclough, p. 73). | hypothesi ze, following Fairclough that
“significant connectionsexist between features of texts, waysinwhichtextsare put
together andinterpreted, andthenatureof thesocial practice[s] (p. 73) whichdictates
theproduction of texts. Essentially theHR staff member, inparticular, of whom | write
sought to create a discourse not only to “sever the adherence to the world of
commonsense by publicly proclaiming abreak with the ordinary order,” but alsoto
“integratewithinit the previously tacit or repressed practicesand experiencesof an
entiregroup, investing themwith thelegitimacy conferred by public expressionand
collectiverecognition.” (Bourdieu, 1991, p. 129).

In so doing, she sought to enforce, without directly communicating her intent
to do so, apolicy that—though unwritten—had been successfully carried out inthe
context of staff returning from work after a medical leave of absence, but until |
returned after an extended leave, no returning faculty had been required to conform
tothisunwritten policy held within the collective consciousness of HR. What | will
uncover inwhat followsisnot only the* power indiscourse, but . . . thepower behind
discourse” and how particular conventions of discourse are policed by power-
holderswithininstitutions, and what dire consequencesare possibleif sanctionsare
imposed when conventions are not followed (Fairclough, 1989, p. 61).
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Academia

From outsidethecommunity someseeacademicsaseffeteelitists, wordy know-
it-allswholack any real world knowledge, knowledgethat could be put to good use,
for exampl e, likemaking money, whichissomething most academicsdo not dowell
at all. Nor do those outside the culture understand that academics work, real hard.
What outsiders see are individuals who teach what they consider to be very few
hoursper week, andfor therest of thetimelivealifeof leisure. Nothing could befurther
fromthetruth. What outsidersdo not understandisthe continual stressand pressure
academicsare under to produce, to remain abreast of their field, to contributeto the
development and eval uation of theinstitutional structure within which they work,
andtoteach and mentor their students, to namejust someof theresponsibilitiesfaced
by those who have chosen the profession. | chosethe profession, and herel choose
tostudy it aswell presenting mewith the challengethat Pierre Bourdieu articul ates
clearly in his own study of academics:

Whenfacedwiththechallengeof studyingaworldtowhichwearelinked by all sorts
of specificinvestments, inextricably intellectual and‘ tempora’, our first automatic
thought isto escape’; our concern to escape any suspicion of prejudiceleadsusto
attempt to negate ourselves as ‘biased’ or ‘informed’ subject automatically
suspected to abolish the self even as knowing subject, by resorting to the most
impersonal and automatic procedures, those, at least in this perspective (whichis
that of ‘normal science’), which are the least questionable. (1984, p. 6)

| accept this challenge with the recognition that | am the subject of the inquiry and
analysis, and also present as the object of the discourse of disdain that | analyzein
context.

First: On Becoming an Object of Disdain

Inearly February 20001 sustained afall onthei ceoutsidemy homewhichresulted
inaseverewrist break and traumato my upper body. |ncompetent medical interven-
tion contributed to the onset of arare, disabling condition for which | continueto be
treated. Had diagnosis occurred when symptomsfirst emerged my disability would
never have reached itslevel of severity, and infact | might betoday symptom free,
but that is not the case, nor is this the story of medical incompetence, though my
origina physician’s inability to listen to my complaints of pain, and his lack of
attentiontothesymptomsthat | pointed out to him communicatealevel of arrogance
that highlight alack of civility that ispresent in hisprofession, and that | later found
present in the HR sector of the university of which | write.

It was not until two and one half years after my fall that | wasrecovered to the
degree that my treating physician—not the incompetent one—agreed that | could
givefulltimework achanceagain. | hadtriedtoreturntowork eight monthsafter my
accident—with great optimism for success as | knew not yet of the power of the
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disabling condition | had contracted—but was forced to leave after three weeks
realizing | had not yet regained the physical strength necessary to carry out the
responsibilitiesof afaculty member. | needed morethanafull year moreof intensive
physical therapy—which ended when health insurance no longer would cover the
treatments. But | continued on my ownwiththephysical regimen, took my medicine
and entered the hospital onaregular basisto keep symptomsat bay. | worked harder
at getting better than | had ever worked at any job | had ever had, and | am ahard
worker. The long medical leave caused extreme financia difficulty, as one can
imagine, and the continued medical treatment necessitatesinsurance coverage best
maintained through the university’s health plan.

Attempting To Follow Administrative Decree

Prior toreturningtowork Fall Semester 2002, | notified my program director—
orally and in writing—in July to clear the return with him and so that | could be
scheduled to teach; | notified my college dean at the same time—orally and in
writing—so that money would beallocated for my position, which wasguaranteed;
and| called thevice-chancellor of HR to notify her of my intentionto returntowork
fulltimejust so all avenueswere covered. Thevice chancellor asked that | have my
doctor writealetter indicating | wasreturning to work so the university would have
itonrecord. Now | had calledthevicechancellor of my ownaccordjust toassurethat
all baseswere covered, no one had suggested that | do soand nowherewasit written
that | wasrequiredto do so. | asked thevicechancellor if providing adoctor’ sletter
uponreturntowork fromamedical leavewasuniversity policy, andif so, wasitwritten
down anywhere. | asked as | had not been required to supply the university with a
noteuponmy first return, and wondered why | wasbeing asked to do so at thistime.
Thevicechancellor, who wasvery politeand understanding, said that no, therewas
noofficial policy thusnothingwasinwriting that shewasawareof but shefeltitwould
beagoodideaif | wereto do so, and even apologized for having to ask meto go to
thistroubleafter having been out solong, and recogni zing that | would need to make
an appointment with my doctor, get aride into Boston, and traverse yet another
bureaucracy in order to respond to her request. She was very kind. She also
suggested that she would look into the issue just to make sure that she was asking
me to do what was required, and then get back to me.

| never heard from her again. | felt asif | wereback in grade school. But | made
an appointment, arranged to be driven into Boston—an hour’ sdrive, and met with
my physician to discuss both my overall feelings about my ability to carry out the
responsibilities of my position and thewording of the note. My doctor and | settled
onat my urging: CandaceMitchell will returntowork beginning Fall Semester 2002.
Y ourstruly, (signed by the doctor). Contained within thewording of thisvery short
noteisthepresumptivenotionthat thework | will returntoisthesamework fromwhich
I leftwhenl firstinjured myself. Obviously thenotewasonofficial stationary, typed,
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signed, dated, and sent, as| had been directed to do, to my program director, who
then forwarded it to HR. | settled on the short note recognizing that no one had the
righttodetailsof my medi cal condition—therecordsareconfidential—and assuming
that my doctor’ snoteindicating that | would return would be sufficient to cover the
university’ sunstated, inexplicit requirement. | assumed aswell that the understand-
ingwould bethat if | did not havethe notefrom my doctor described above, | would
therefore not have his permission to return to work. Thiswas all taken care of in
August 2002 prior to the onset of the semester.

Collegiality

| wasback, nervous, but back. Twoandahalf yearsisavery longtimetobeaway
from on€e's job, no matter what the position. To return with a disability made the
transitionfromhometowork evenmoredifficult. | wasfearful—scaredtodeathwoul d
be a better description—that despite al my efforts to regain my strength | might
experience asethback and find myself in the position of letting my program down if
| could not complete the semester. Thiswould put undo pressure on other faculty
asit had previously since my courses had to be covered in my absence both when
| first fell and then again when | tried to return and had to leave after three weeks. |
assumed asecond failed attempt toreturnwoul d, ineffect, mark theend of my career
as an academic, and even moreimportantly asawage earner. Thiswould have left
me with no recourse other than to seek public assistance until | was able to obtain
another position since the university’s disability insurer had denied my claim for
coverage, andthough | wasappealing thisdecision, thereturntowork automatically
disqualified mefrom ever again collecting benefitsfrom thisinsurer or any other. |
was not in a good position.

Every faculty member in my program offered without question the support that
speakstowhat amajor component of what collegiality isreally about: all took it upon
themselvesto do everything possibleto makemy transition back into university life
asfreefromstressaspossible. Our faculty partnership, or “ colleguim,” provided me
timetoreadjust andtowrite. Atissueasall knew, wasthefact that | had not yet been
reviewed for tenure and for two and ahalf yearshad for the most part not even been
abletoread as| could not concentrate due to pain, could not drive to alibrary (or
anywhere elsefor that matter) to do research, nor could | type. If | wereever ableto
accomplishwhat | needed to accomplishintermsof publishing | had to bebuffered.
In addition to my teaching, this was my sole focus: | needed to publish to survive.

This support and care, so generously given without the intervention of
bureaucraticdictateor filing of forms, marksamajor component of theimplicitrules
of theculture of academe: collegiality suggeststhat if you are accepted asamember
of the community other members will always be there for you, to take over as my
colleaguesdid in the event that the need to do so emerges. Itisnot asif deanswere
not awarein someinstancesthat thisimplicit cultural system had been putin place
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asmorethanlikely, they infact supported the process, knowing that most important
wasthe fact that the university continued to function, and that faculty be protected
to the degree possible so that they could return to their positions when whatever
trauma had pulled them away was no longer ahindranceto full participation inthe
community. Thecultureworks.

Heretical Discourse

| wasblindsidedwhen| received acall frommy programdirector thefirst day of
classsecond semester, 2003. Thiswasthesecond semester of my returntowork. My
director was distraught. Agitated. Dumbfounded. (As| waswhen | heard what he
had to say.) Heinformed methat he had received acall that morning from the dean
indicatingthat | wastobeplaced onleaveof absencewithout pay becausel hadfailed
to comply with university policy regarding procedures for return-to-work after a
medical leave. (Understand that aleave of absencewithout pay would not only have
eliminated my incomebut would haveal so stopped completely all medical insurance
coverage. Without coverage | would not have been able to undergo the treatments
necessary to maintain the physical statusthat had allowed meto return to work in
thefirst place)

My director urged meto go to my doctor immediately and get anew letter, but
| had noideawhat a“ new” letter wasto say, nor was| in any position to gain access
tomy physician at amoment’ snotice—compassionate asheis, my physicianisnot
Dr. Kildare. My doctor isinternationally renowned and is often out of the country
at medical conferences; whenintown heisintheoperating room; with patientsduring
officevisits, attending to hisresidents, conducting research, and any number of other
activitiesthat disallow* immediateaccess.” And| would never evenhaveconsidered
asking for hisintervention for such a matter: this was bureaucratic absurdity and
blackmail. | wasbeing chargedwith not fulfillingahumanresources' requirementyet
on 23 September 2002 of the previous semester, three weeks into classes the HR
accommodationsadministrator, FatimaGorda,* had written meal etter indi cating that
| washack at work fulltime, notinginfull:

Dear Candace,

Thisletter servesto document our conversation of today regarding your return
towork without a“ Releaseto Returnto Work” fromyour doctor (name of doctor).

Y our reinstatement after approximately two yearsaway from (theuniversity)
and the appropriate route for your paperwork was not followed. Since you have
already returned to teaching, and since the PA [payroll] form has already been
processed in the Human Resources Department, you will be permitted to continue
to teach.

Based on the documentation | havein HR, your return to the classroom does
not seem to present any direct “threat” to re-injury or exacerbation of your
condition. However, | statethat asan HR Administrator not amedical practitioner
and without any updates from amedical doctor to suggest otherwise.
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If youarerequesting any disability-rel ated accommodations, pleasecomplete
the attached paperwork and return it to me.

Welcome back to the University.

Fatima Gorda
Accommodations, Benefits and Leave Administrator

cc. (to my program director, and the HR assistant vice-chancellor)

The conversation—actually there were two—to which the“ ADA/504 Compliance
Officer,” d'soknown, asnoted above, asthe* Accommodations, Benefitsand L eave
Administrator,” and onthewebsitefor HR, as* Manager” occurred earlierinthesame
day theletter waswritten. Monthslater my assumptionwasconfirmed that themore
titlesone has, the more power one hasaswell. The HR officer had no doubt finally
gottenaroundtoreadingtheletter from my doctor andtoreviewing my filethustook
ituponherself tocall meinmy officeon September 23to makeit knownthat my return
towork washer job. Shewaspersistent—muchlikeabulldog with speech abilities—
with her concernthat | had not fulfilled the university’ s return-to-work policy, but
when| asked her to specify what thepolicy wassheprovided thefollowing exampl es:
first shediscussed the case of aclerk who had just returned towork with aletter from
her doctor which specified that thewoman work for twoweeksfor just twenty hours
aweek, and then return to afull forty hours aweek.

Thisclerk’ spositionentailed typing for most of theday. | notedthat theexample
had no relevance to my responsibilities as afaculty member and that | was already
back fulltime, and functioning quitewell, and that she—theHR officer (Fatima) with
whom | was speaking—had in hand aletter from my doctor indicating that | would
return to work, and though | did not say this to her | assumed the understanding
implicit within the word “work” was “my fulltime position as defined by the
university,” whichwasinfact what | wasdoing—with the support of my colleagues,
though | did not mention thisto her either. The officer gave asecond example after
| askedif shecouldclarify further: another member of thestaff had been out onmedical
leave and when he returned his doctor specified as to the amount of weight the
employeecouldlift at work. Actually inresponseto my comment that theamount of
weight that | couldlift really had norelevanceto my ability to carry out my weighty
responsibilitiesasamember of thefaculty, theHR officer didlaugh and comment that
| was right on that account. During this conversation | recall clearly that | even
complimented the HR officer on her promotion, and she laughed again, noting that
she was not sure that she would characterize it as a promotion.

Despite the laughter and the seemingly overt camaraderie, | was beginning to
feel asif | hadfallenthroughtherabbit hole, soto speak, but remained calmand polite
andtriedtact. | askedif theuniversity had apolicy statement that | could usetoguide
my doctor in composing an “ appropriate” letter. Her reply wasavery direct “no” as
to the policy statement, but she was undeterred and suggested, nonethel ess, that
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my doctor be more specific about my condition—what it entailed, what restrictions
I might have, what the symptomswere, and so forth. | did not have any restrictions
that | could see at thispoint, and noted this, indicating that | might at somelater date
seek accommodations. Hereamajor point of miscommunicationemerged: theHR’ s
“restrictions’ overlapped with “accommodations’ both in my interpretation of the
term, andinher responsetomy useof theterm. Actually | learned at theend of January
2003, that thetwowordshad entirely different meaningswithinthecontext of areturn
towork, though never did the HR officer clarify thisdistinction to me. | responded
that my understanding wasthat restrictionswereto bedealt with in an accommoda-
tion plan, and that | could apply at any time for consideration through a 504
accommodation request, and that | did not have any restrictions that | could think
of at themoment. Sheagreed with my assumptionregardingtheaccommodationplan.
So, in effect, she was confirming my understanding of the overlapping meaning
between restrictions and accommodations.

What | now perceived asan attack wasrelentless. Though | waswinning, or so
| thought, thiswasabattlel had nodesiretowage. | wantedtoteach, towrite, toremain
strong, and to makeit through the academic year. Thisadded pressurefrom HR was
not helping mattersat all. And even though the officer did not have acomeback for
any request for clarificationthat | made, | felt acreeping uneasethat thesituationwas
spinning out of control. From my perspective there was no logic to the pursuit, as
| was functioning and accepted in my community at the university. Inafinal effort
tomakesomeheadway | askedif HR had aformthat my doctor couldfill outandreturn
totheuniversity that woul d satisfy the unspecified return-to-work policy. Againthe
answer wasno. Withthat | repliedthat | feltwehad reached animpasse: | did not know
what shewanted fromme, and | wasnot going to continueto ask my doctor for letters
until by chance he hit upon a formula—unnamed and unspecified—that would
satisfy her. TheHR officer agreed that theexampl esshehad of fered mewereirrel evant
considering my position at the university, and that she really had no idea what a
return-to-work |l etter inmy caseshoul d contain, asshehad no exampl es, had no policy
statement, or formof anofficial naturetooffer tometofacilitateher, what | considered
tobe, quiteabsurd request. Please notethat | never overtly characterized her request
asabsurd, thiswasafeeling | kepttomyself andthat | reveal now aspart of theanalysis
of the exchange.

| want to makeit clear that | was not attempting to be an obstructionist during
the conversation. | would have gladly supplied another letter but | honestly did not
know—nor did the officer—what the doctor needed to write. And we both agreed
that | was already at work fulltime anyway, and my doctor had written a letter
indicating | would return to work. The call ended on a cordial note, though | felt
violated, asif someone had intruded too far into the personal reaches of my lifein
acontext in which it was totally inappropriate to do so. | also sensed that this HR
officer, new to her position, had no ideawhat shewastalking about, but could have
cared less because real communication, compassion for my situation and context
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were not theissues here: power was. She never asked me how | wasfeeling or how
it wasto beback at work. Or never did she even comment that the transition must be
difficultafter suchalongabsence. Shenever asked about my fall or thelong recovery
period; and this was awoman who had previously overseen disability servicesfor
students. What the officer needed was to be in control.

That sameday | received acall back from the HR officer after she had spoken
to auniversity lawyer. The lawyer told her to drop theissue as| was already back
towork and on payroll. Hetold her further that HR had better “ get its act together”
and put apolicy statement together tohandlesituationssuchasmine. TheHR officer
was new enough to the position that the absence of a policy statement was not a
reflection of her inefficiency, but that of her predecessor’s. | thanked her for being
candid with me and that was that.

| was soon thereafter inwriting officially wel comed back to theuniversity by the
“ Accommodations, Benefitsand L eave Administrator” —the HR officer withwhom|
had had the conversation just summarized—and “ permitted to continue to teach”, as
specifiedintheletter of September 23 printedinfull above. Despitethefact thattheHR
officer writes“ This|letter servesto document our conversation of today . . .” it does
no suchthing. Thereisno mentionintheletter of thelack of areturn-to-work policy
within HR which madeit difficult for meto adhereto an unspecified requirement, or
to the statement made by the university lawyer who had told her to put theissueto
rest. | wasdismayed by thisomission, and by theassumptionthat it wasHRwhowas
now permitting metoteachthoughHR had had nosay initially inwhether | wasfit—
intellectually, academically, interms of background experience, and so forth, to be
hired onin atenure-track position at the university inthefirst place. | was confused
by the fact that my return to work is characterized as areturn to “teaching.”

Contained within the language of this letter is the notion that what my work
entailsissolely teaching. ThisHR officer either does not know, or does not wish to
acknowledgethat faculty not only teach, but provide serviceto the community, and
doresearch for publication. | waswriting abook and serving asdirector of acenter
but my positionisso diminished by thetone of thisletter that | might just aswell be
apart-timer, aswhat part-timers do isteach and only teach. | wasvery confused by
the opening sentence of the second paragraph which reads. “Y our reinstatement
after approximately two yearsaway from (the university) and the appropriate route
for your paperwork wasnot followed.” | understand this sentenceto meanthat | am
reinstated, but my paperwork found its way through the bureaucracy through an
inappropriate route, but nonetheless it reached its destination.

| amalso notified that my “returnto the classroom does not seemto present any
direct ‘threat’ tore-injury or exacerbation of your condition.” Herel believethe HR
officer has clearly over-stepped her boundariesin that sheis not amedical expert,
which she does note. Nonethel ess, with thisin mind, she should not have ventured
anopiniononmy “condition.” Andfinally, | amaddressed by my first name, withno
acknowledgement of statuswithinthe university, whereasthe HR officer signsthe
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letter with her full nameandvery full administrativetitle. Thepower implicationsin
the contrast are far from subtle.

TheHR officer knew that | wasdrivingto campusonly oneday aweek—Friday,
the day my class met. She knew this because | had asked her to please mail any
correspondencetomy homeaddresssincel would most generally beon campusonly
one day aweek. | waswriting and the only way one getswriting doneisto stick to
it. Other responsibilities| handled over the phone—I was not even connected to the
new email system, and returned paperwork when | droveinfor class. | do not think
thisarrangement sat well with HR, who saw my scheduleasanindication that | was
working parttime. Andfinally, all | am asked to consider in thisletter of September
23 is the possibility of “requesting any disability-related accommodations,” the
formsforwhichwereenclosed. Noother requirementsarestated. | may havereturned
towork without a“release”, but | wasreinstated, or so | thought. | had no reason at
all to assume | had to do anything else to satisfy HR requirements.

A Clash of Cultures

After having beenaway fromtheinstitutionfor twoand ahalf years| wasglad
tohavethereturn-to-work issueanditsincumbent absurdity seemingly behind me.
| just wanted towork, and | had no reason not to believethat the September 23 | etter
fromtheHR officer had put closureto the matter of my returntowork fromamedical
leave. But, littledid | know what awaited methecoming semester. Thebull dogwas
rabid. And as | wasto find out at the outset of second semester for some reason
enraged that | was at the university without having provided a*“ Release Form to
Returnto Work” (whichdid not exist) from my doctor, despitethefact that neither
she—theHR officer, nor anyoneel seat theuniversity had been ableto characterize
to mewhat a“ Release to Return to Work” was, or why my doctor’ s original note
wasinsufficient tofulfill HR’ simplicit policy for faculty returningtowork froma
medical leave.

The Meeting about Accommodations

Neither | nor my director, whoa sodidnot attendto hisemail over semester break,
had any idea that there was any concern with my status at the university. In fact,
during my first semester back my program director met at hisrequest with the HR
officer who sent metheletter aboveto learn how one applied for accommodations.
He wanted to understand the process so he could best advise me how to proceed
if I found, for example, that teaching aclassat 7:00 p.m.—which our program does—
wasgoingtobeaproblemfor me, orif | neededto beassigned aclassroominthesame
building as my office was |located. He wished to find out if | needed to go through
anofficial processtoteachonly at 4:00 p.m. rather thanalternatingtimesasall faculty
inthe program do, or to restrict room assignments, and so forth. During the meeting
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withmy director andtheHR officer nothing at all wassai d about aneed for anew | etter
frommy doctor, moreimportant, nothingwasmentioned of theramifications| would
faceif anew letter were not to appear.

Nonetheless, quitesurprisingly theHR officer laterimpliedinanemail analyzed
below that the need for anew letter had been the topic of the meeting, and further
that | had al so been at themeeting. | wasnot at themeeting. My director flatly denies
that the HR officer discussed the need for anew | etter from my doctor at themeeting
and hasdonesoinwriting. TheHR officer hassinceadmittedinwriting that theneed
for anew letter was not discussed at the meeting.

A Duplicitous Discourse

TheHR officer phoned meathirdtimefirst semester. Thiscall came December
10, 2002, the very last day of the semester. | had not heard from her sincereceiving
the September 23, 2002 | etter. She caught me in my office and we again discussed
accommodations. Sheasked mewhy | had not applied for any accommodations, and
| replied that | had wanted to wait at least afull semester to seeif any werein fact
necessary before applying, and that | understood that there was no timeframe for
applying. Shereplied that thismade sense. | asked directly if therewereatimeframe
for applying, and sherepliedthat | could apply for accommodationsat any time, thus
| felt it odd that she was calling me to see why | had not yet applied. Thiswas my
business, not hers.

| asked if shewould not mind forwarding me new formsas| did not know what
had happened tothe onesshehad sent September 23. Shesaid shewould. Sheagreed,
too, that | wasfreetoapply whenever | feltit might benecessary, and thenwewished
one another happy holidays. End of conversation. Not long after we spoke,
unbeknownst to me, or to my director to whom the email was cc’ d, the HR officer
(Fatima Gorda) wrote the following email, cc’d also to the vice-chancellor (Susan
Allen) withwhom | hadfirst learned that adoctor’ snotewasnecessary and who had
never gotten back to me to clarify what one should contain, my program director
(David Rosaldo), andthenew head of |abor rel ationsin HR (Robert Smith). Theemail
read asfollows:

From: Fatima Gorda

Sent: Tuesday, December 10, 2002 3:17 PM

To: CandaceMitchell

Cc. David Rosaldo, Robert Smith, Susan Allen, Vice-Chancellor HR
Subject: Release Form to Return to Work

Dear Candace,

| know that you have been back to work this semester and “active” on our
system, but | thought you said that you would have arel easeto returnto work filed
by your doctor early in this Fall semester. As of thistime, HR does not have that
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release, stating restrictionsif thereareany, and your returnto full time or modified
timeschedule.

The HR department needs to put some closure to this case. Have you been
provided the necessary documentation from your doctor? If not, will you please
have the doctor forward the release to the HR department as soon as possible. Our
fax number is617-287-5179. And pleaselet usknow if therewill beafurther delay.

| haveincludedinthisemail our new Director of L abor Rel ations, Robert Smith,
whowill befollowing through on your situation aswell asmany othersalong with
me and our colleaguesin HR.

Thanks Candace,
Fatima

| did not seethisemail until | accessed the system with afriend’ shelp thefirst
day of thesecond semester—M onday, January 27, 2003—after receivingthefrantic
call from my director. With thisin mind | turn now to a discussion of the language
of disdainthat theemail contains. First the subject of theemail isoddinand of itself:
To repeat, | had just finished speaking to Fatima and nothing we discussed is
contained in the email. Why did she not ask me these questions on the phone? | am
already back towork sowhy should | now need aRel ease Form (which doesnot exist)
to Returnto Work? Second the HR officer iscareful to distance herself from stating
directly that | had promised areleaseformto HR by writing “ | thought you said that
you would have arelease to return to work filed by your doctor early in this Fall
semester.” Since | never had been ableto learn what arelease was, and since | had
also heard from her that the university lawyer had told her to drop the case, | never
would have even considered saying such athing to her, nonethel ess she asserts she
“thinks” | did say so.

Inaddition, theHR officer makestheassumptionthat | might havereceivedthe
“documentation” but not forwarded it to her office. Again | had just been on the
phone with her prior to the writing of thisemail and she never even mentioned the
release, just accommodations. A pattern hasbegunto emergethat isvery troubling:
the HR officer hasaphone conversation with meand thenfollowsit upinwriting as
if to document the conversation, but in fact deals with an entirely different topic
altogether. She followed the same pattern with my director. After discussing only
accommodations, shetheninwriting statesthat the meeting had been to discussthe
need for areleaseto return to work from my doctor. The parallel isKafkaesgue: the
written version does not reflect what wastal ked about, but createsanew, now more
permanent, yet falsified “reality.”

Andfinaly, thisemail isframedinthepersonal: Fatimawritesdirectly tome—
Candace. Infact, sheevenendstheemail by againthanking meby name. Littleor no
real communi cation occurred between usover thecourseof thesemester—wespoke
by phonetwice on September 23 and onceon December 10, yet weappear inwriting
to be on an intimate “first name” basis. This suggests to the outside reader that a
relationship between the two of us has been established, suggesting further that
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morethanjust thethree phonecallsand thefollow-up letter in September constitute
thebasisof our implicitly implied “on-going” exchange.

Further intheemail abovel amtransformedfrom being afulltimemember of the
faculty by amember of HR’ sstaff into onewhois* active on our system.” Notealso
that “our” connotes HR and not the academic community: in essence | have been
denuded of my placein the academy, and repossessed by a staff-run bureaucratic
officefar apart fromthe cultureinwhich | have heretofore built my career. TheHR
officer, inthethird sentence seemsvery concerned about characterizing whether or
not my returntowork is“full time or modified.” | had just finished asemester asa
fulltimemember of thefaculty.

But nowhereinthisemail am| evenreferredtoasamember of thefaculty. Inthe
second paragraph | am a “case” that needs “closure” as “soon as possible,” and
apparently the only way | can obtain this closure is to have my doctor forward a
release—though again | have no ideawhat areleaseis. The“release” must now be
transferred by fax. Obviously thisisamatter of extreme urgency, but theurgency is
only characterized asaneed to closethe case, thereisno discussion of implications.
Inthethird paragraph | aminformed that many otherswill befollowingthrough“on
your situation”. | never heard aword from anyone in HR by email, mail, phone, or
carrier pigeonfrom December 10, 2002 to January 27, 2003, nor had anyonecontacted
meregarding“ my situation” prior to December 10, other than Fatima, whoagainonly
contacted me on September 23, 2002.

| did not read thisemail, asnoted above, until after | receivedthecall frommy
director, Monday morning, January 27, 2003, thefirst day of second semester, my
firstyear back asa"“ case” that had becomeareal “ situation.” Onewould think that
onthe basic level of human decency, in the name of civility, thiswoman, Fatima
Gorda—the HR officer—would have tried other avenuesin which to contact me
once she did not receive aresponse to her email considering the implications she
had in mind: having me placed on |eave of absencewithout pay. Thisisasituation
that | would never inmy wildestimagination haveconsidered. Quitetothecontrary,
| had considered the issue resolved in September when | returned to work and
began again as a fulltime member of the faculty with the full knowledge and
permissionof my programdirector, my collegedean, thevice-chancellor of HR, and
after receipt of the odd | etter of September 23 from Fatimawel coming meback to
the university.

The Will to Power

Neverinany communication, either writtenor oral, didtheHR officer characterize
what my doctor needed to do to satisfy HR’ s needs so that they could put “ closure”
tomy “case.” Nor didtheofficer—FatimaGorda—ever communicateto meor tomy
director, until 6:53 p.m., Friday, January 24, 2003, again by email that wasnot read by
meor by my director until Monday, January 27, 2003, thefirst day of classes, that HR
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was going to take any action against me. After not following up in any way on the
email of December 10, 2002, theHR officer writesthefollowing:

From: Fatima Gorda
To: David Rosaldo (my program director)
Cc: Dean Sampson (my collegedean), LauraM cMurray (staff member

inchargeof medical |eaves), CandaceMitchell, Marshall Best (vice-
chancellor of HR)

Sent: Friday, January 24, 2003 6:53 PM
Subject: Candace Mitchell’ s Return to Work
Dear David,

Despite the results of our meeting in Fall 2002, and my conversation with
Candace at that timeregarding her issuing a“ Returnto Work” document from her
doctor, Human Resources has not received this release. We can only assume,
therefore, that Candace would be going out on“ Leavewithout Pay” for the Spring
2003 semester and the Dean’ s Officewill befollowing thisemail with aPersonnel
Action Form to accomplish this action.

| believewehavebeen patientin HR by allowing Candaceto completetheFall
2002 semester, since she had aready met her class prior to our knowledge of her
return. Rather than cause disruption at that time, and because this document was
expected in September, Candace continued in full-time faculty duties. However,
based on recommendations of our legal counsel, the University must proceed with
this course of action for Spring 2003.

Pleasecall Robert Smith or myself with questions. | personally had hoped that
we would have had a different solution for this issue months ago.

Thank you,
Fatima

Unliketheletter of September 23 andtheemail of December 10, thisemail isnot
evenaddressedtome, buttomy director. | havenow becomethesubject of theemail,
and assuch | am completely objectified as: “ Candace Mitchell’ s Return to Work.”
Obviously the matter istotally out of my handssince | havefailed to respondinthe
manner theHR officer expected. Shebeginstheemail by writing: “ Despitetheresults
of our meeting in Fall 2002" which suggests that an agreement had been reached
among the participants at the meeting—the HR officer and my director. These
“results’ relateto “my conversation with Candace at that time” which impliesthat
| also wasat themeeting thereforeagreed to the“ results’ of the meeting. Now what
werethe “results’? The “results’ arein regard to my “issuing a“ Return to Work”
document” from my doctor. Again | was not at the meeting. The meeting was not
about areleasel etter. Andfurther, how could| “issue’ aletter from my doctor?Only
my doctor could“issue” aletter of rel ease; | would beableonly toask for aletter from
him. HR, of course, has not received “this release” since | did not know one was
required, or what one was to contain.

Now, sincenolletter hasbeenreceived, and eventhough nol etter wasrequested,
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“We"—all in HR and my dean, | soon learn—"can only assume, therefore, that
Candacewould begoingouton“’ Leavewithout Pay’” . .. Now, inmy opinion, that
assumption, particularly considering theuseof “would” rather than“will” isagreat
leap inlogic, unnecessary, and frightening aswell in that “would” assumesadone
deal. All the HR officer had to do waspick up thephone, call meand ask: “ Candace,
are you planning on going out on Leave of Absence without Pay this Spring
semester?,” and | would havepromptly replied, “ No, | havenointention of doing so.”
A phone call to mewould have negated HR' s assumptions regarding my plans for
second semester. But the courtesy of acall wasnot provided, and it seemsthat even
HRissomewhat out of thepictureat thispoint asitistheDean’ sOfficethat will follow
through with the Personnel Action Form to “accomplish this action,” leaving no
doubt that the action will in fact occur.

In the second paragraph we learn that HR has been “patient” in “allowing
Candaceto completetheFall 2002 semester, sinceshehad already met her classprior
toour knowledgeof her return.” | calledthevice-chancellor of HRinJuly 2002tonotify
her of my intent to return, and the doctor’ sletter wasin the HR office by the end of
August 2002. It wasthe HR officer who did not get around to checking thel etter until
threeweeksintothesemester, after | had already been cleared on payroll andthrough
all other official channelsfor areturntowork. Now sheisrelyingon*legal counsel”
tosupport her courseof action, without having provided any forewarning. | question
theuse of legal counsel. Did the HR officer again consult auniversity lawyer asshe
had in September, or just speak to the newly-hired head of |abor relationswho was
alsoalawyer, but not hiredto practiceat theuniversity? Thewords, “legal counsel”,
carry great wei ght and may haveswayed thedeanto act prematurely tosignthe LOA
form without even proceeding with the courtesy of calling meto seewhat | had to
say of the “situation.”

Inadditionto emphasizing that HR hasbeen“ patient” the officer also arguesthat
“they,” now implicating againthewhol edepartment, did not want to cause* disruption”
as | had aready begun to teach. Further, Fatimawrites, “ because this document was
expected in September, Candace continued in full-timefaculty duties.” | wascleared
toteachin September, sowhy would therebean expectationthat “ thisdocument” was
to arrivein HR? It had not been requested. And what isthe logic of the relationship
between the expectation and my continuing toteach?Inal thisemail liftsthe burden
of responsibility for the action that is to be taken against me from Fatima Gorda’'s
shoulders, next placesit upon the back of HR, then passesit off to the Dean’ s Office,
and finally, based on “legal counsel” argues that “the University must proceed with
this course of action for Spring 2003.” The HR officer constitutes adiscourse which
framesher casesuchthat her failuretocommunicatefirst; theneedfor anew | etter from
my physician; second, what that | etter must contain; andthird, theimplicationsif | were
not to follow through with the “unstated” “tacit” “rules’ for return to work from a
medical leave, is buried so deeply in a bureaucratic paper trail that only the truly
determined participant could possibly uncover the truth of the affair.
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What could possibly motivate an administrator in HR to blindside mein such a
way?Especidly onewhowritesinher final email: “ | personally had hoped that wewould
have had a different solution for this issue months ago.” Note the “I personally”
indicating that she is involved at a level that runs deeper than that of a mere
functionary—she cares. She*“hoped” for a“solution” signifying that | am aproblem,
or that | have caused one for HR. And again, she distances the reality of what is
happening here: I'mbeing set uptolosepay and benefitswithout notification, without
beingtoldwhat | needtodotosatisfy HR' srequirements, andwithout evenbeingaware
that | wasstill obligated to do something for HR as| wasfully under theimpression—
and it wasin writing—that | was back at the university and welcomed, no less.

The Collapse of Collegiality

Right before the HR officer wrote the email dated Friday, January 24, 2003,
discussed above she spoke with the dean, who signed the Personnel Action Form
on Monday, January 27, 2003, despite her confusion over theissue of thereturn-to-
work letter aswell. Thisismemorializedintheemail bel ow:

From: Dean Sampson

To: Fatima Gorda, David Rosaldo

Date: January 24, 2003

Cc: David Rosaldo, Susan McMurray, Candace Mitchell, Marshall Best
Subject: Re: Candace Mitchell’ s Return to Work

Dear Fatima,

David phoned methismorning to say that amedical clearanceletter had been
sent early last fall and had beenreceived by the ADA [HR] office. Apparently, this
letter is not adequate.

Itwould behelpful if you could explainwhat remainsto be saidinthemedical
clearanceletter wearenow seeking. Fromtheconversationyouand | had on Friday
at about 5:45 p.m., | understand the doctor’s letter should simply say that Dr.
Mitchell is able to return to work. Is that correct? Should it specify full-time?

If weneed to get together with David on Tuesday, pleasel et (secretary) know.

Meanwhile, | have signed the LOA form and sent it to (the vice-chancell or of
HR).

Best wishesto all, (DS).

Fromtheinformation containedinthefirst paragraphitisclear that the HR officer
did not share with the dean during their conversation on Friday, January 24, 2003,
thefact that my doctor had already provided al etter totheuniversity in August 2002.
Thisisapparent sincethedeanindicatesthat shehaslearned just “thismorning” that
“amedical clearanceletter had beensent early last fall.” Alsothedean seemstohave
had the same problem understanding what amedical clearanceletter should contain
as| did. Infact, she understood after speaking with the HR officer that the doctor’s
letter should read just asmy doctor’ sletter did. And clearly it isan understatement



Candace Mitchell pX]

toindicatethat “ 1t would be helpful if you could explain what remainsto besaidin
themedical clearanceletter we are now seeking.” | had tried unsuccessfully to find
out the sameinformation from thevice-chancellor of HR in July 2002, and fromthe
HR officer in September 2002, both times during phone conversations. And though
| did not have an appropriate letter for a release to return to work—though
“appropriate letter” is an oxymoron in that no policy statement was in place
characterizing what such aletter wasto contain.

On Becoming the Object of the Discourse of Disdain

Why had | become such an object of disdain?1 wasobjectified to such adegree
that noonewhowasparti ci pating inthi sseriousaction agai nst meeventook thetime
to speak with me about it, other than my program director. And even after he spoke
with thedean on my behalf, shestill went ahead and signed the LOA form. It wasas
if I nolonger existed. Caseclosed. My assessment isthat HR did not likethefact that
| was teaching one course, a schedule approved by the dean. This | assume HR
considereda“ modified schedule.” ButfromHR’ sperspective, withlittleunderstand-
ing of the workings of the academic context, or of my responsibilities within the
community, my situation was viewed quite differently: HR thought | was being
“accommodated”. Thus, inturn, HR saw my situation as an effort on the part of the
faculty and the program director to control and protect returning faculty, thus
diminishing HR’ s power in the decision-making process.

Thecultureof HR overtly clashed withfaculty cultureinsuchaway that HR felt
that | was somehow getting away with something that they needed to set right. This
wasconfirmedwhen| calledtheHR director after | earning that actionhad beentaken
against meto have me placed on L OA without pay to try to make some sense of the
act, andtolearnwhy no oneintheofficehad madeany attempt to contact medirectly
at any timeduringthesemester, first totell methat anew doctor’ sletter wasrequired;
what that |etter needed to say; and what the consequences wereif aletter were not
forthcoming. TheHR director avoided thereferencestothemanner inwhichHR had
carried outitscommuni cationwithmeandinstead commented, “Well, youonly teach
onecourse, don’t you?' Now thiscametotally out of the blue, anonsequitur, if you
will, but | immediately understood theimplications of the comment.

Fromtheperspectiveof an HR staff member teaching onecoursesignified part-
timeemployment, i.e., amodified schedule. Tothis| responded: “ First, let memake
something clear toyou, itisnot HR’ sbusinessto monitor the academic domain, but
sinceyou have chosento do so, andtoimply incorrectly that | am somehow skirting
my responsibilities, letmeexplain: | teachinagraduate program. Each coursecounts
asoneand ahalf courses. | asodirect acenter at theuniversity. Asdirector | receive
agraduate course load reduction. A full courseload in my program istwo courses.
Thisisequal tothreecourses per semester at theundergraduatelevel. | amfulfilling
afull courseload asrequired of afull-timefaculty member. Thisarrangement was
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negotiated throughmy dean’ sofficeafter | received an offer fromanother university.
Andfinally, what | teach, when | teach, how many courses| teach, and so forth, in
fact anything having to do with the academic domain is absolutely none of your
business, or the business of anyone else in HR.” To this she replied, “You are
absolutely correct.” | had not raised my voice, but | wasfurious. What right had the
Officeof Human Resourcestointerveneintheacademicaffairsof theuniversity and
toarriveat fal se conclusionsregarding my contributionsto thecommunity; | wasto
be evaluated by peers, not by managersand functionaries, angry, | believe because
they wereat their desksfrom9to5and thought that | wasworking only from4t06:30
on Friday evening, the hours my course was schedul ed.

Theabsurdity of it all nearly caused metototally losemy bearingsas| wasstill
bound by HR to come up with arelease or | was out of ajob. It was Monday, and |
was given until Friday to get thereleaseinto HR. | had no ideawhether my doctor
waseveninthecountry. | calledmy lawyer. My lawyer calledtheHR officer whohad
“handled my case” since September and had initiated the paperwork to have me
placedonLOA. My lawyer | eft aphonemessage. A day later the HR officer returned
thecall. My lawyer wasout of the office. Finally on Wednesday, January 29thetwo
spokeby phone, and my lawyer wasabletolearnthat my doctor neededtoinsertinto
theoriginal letter thefollowing words: “fulltime” work “without restrictions” and |
would be cleared through HR to return to work.

| wasincredulous. Threewords. Why had no onein HR been ableto articulate
thesewordsto mein September?Why had HR failed to communi catethat anew | etter
frommy doctor wasrequired until thelast day of the semester, December 10, 2002,
andthen by email after having just spokento meby phoneand never mentioning the
needfor anew letter?WhenHR did not hear back from meafter theDecember 10email
or frommy director, why did HR not makean effort to contact meby phone, by mail,
or certified mail whichwould have been the most appropriate route considering the
seriousness of the yet-to-be-articulated consequences of failing to provide a
rewording?How could HR treat not only me, but my program director, with sucha
lack of regard and respect? This was a bureaucrat office and a representative
functionary enraged and out of control.

A Functionary’s Final Affront

My doctor, of course, agreed to provide the new note, but in order to do so his
transcriber—Ilarge teaching hospital s handle correspondence, grant writing, report
writing, and thewriting of researchthrough acentral officeof transcription—not out
of each separatecliniclocation. So my physician’ stranscriber had to shut downthe
whole system—shewasworking on atight scheduleto meet agrant deadlinefor my
doctor—to search thefilesfor the original August 2002 letter in order to insert the
required words, to change the date, and to print it out so that it could be transferred
tomy doctor’ sofficefor hissignature. HR had managed to stop theimportant work
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of one of themost highly regarded research and teaching hospitalsin Boston; upset
the programinwhich | teach; and cause me enough stressthat | needed to schedule
anemergency hospital procedure. My physician provided acopy of theletter hehad
faxedtomy lawyer and to HR to mewhilel wasin pre-op, and noted with irony that
the bureaucrats were out to take over the world. | agreed.

Oncethereleasewasreceived in HR by fax and | was back on the books so to
speak, my dean congratul atedinanemail cc’ dtomy director theHR officer, Fatima
Gorda, for her finework and described her as” indefatigable.” | couldfindfar better
wordsto describe her, but will refrain from so doing. | did not | et the matter rest,
but set about to document the case at the university. A return-to-work from a
medical leave policy was put in place, inwriting, that is clear and easy to follow.
HR forwarded the policy statement which includes aform for one’ s doctor to fill
out uponreturntowork to mefor my approval and suggestionsprior toimplemen-
tation. Faculty and staff have different forms, though both are very simpleto fill
out. Thedirector of HR left the university for another position. She sent mealong
letter of apology prior to her departure. Thereisan interim director now in place
who also sent me along letter of apology. The HR officer who orchestrated the
action against mesent astrained | etter of apology. Shewasdirectedtodo so. | think
she should have been fired. She was directed to phone me to apologize aswell; |
have yet to receive acall.

In Search of Civility

The case study and discourse analyses presented herein highlight the dangerous
i ntersecti on between academiaandthebureaucratic mentality endemictothecorporate
world. Ontheonehandacademiastrugglestomaintainamodicumof civility; whilethe
corporateworld haslong ago succumbed to adiscourse of disdain. AlongwithHenry
Giroux, | too “believethat intellectualswho work in our nation’ suniversities should
represent the conscience of this society because they not only shape the conditions
under whichfuturegenerationslearnabout themsel vesandtheir rel ationsto othersand
theoutsideworld. .. [but they] areby their very naturemoral and palitical rather than
simply cost-effectiveandtechnical.” (2003, p. 191). Giroux arguesthat the emerging
corporate university radically ater[s] the vocabulary available for appraising the
meaning of citizenship, agency, and civicvirtue.” (p. 196).

With thisin mind, | argue we must not address these issues solely within the
pedagogical spaces of our classrooms, but in all contextsin which we confront, as
| did, oppositional, oppressive discourses. Our only optionisto fight back, record,
critically assess, and seek avenuesfor changethat will provideopportunities“towin
back democracy” (p. 196). We need to take special care not to allow administrative
and bureaucratic communities both within and outside our borders to engage in
hegemonic practi cesthat speak moretothecultureof reaity TV astypifiedinDonald
Trump’s hit show “The Apprentice” which ends each episode with the ultimate
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words of power situated within a discourse of disdain: “You'refired!,” than to a
culture of academiagrounded in collegiality, civility and democratic citizenship.

Intheendwemust recogni zethat “ what drivestheauthoritariantendency of this
global corporateworldviewisthedesiretoreshapethewholeof reality initsimage.”
And that “the hubris of thisworldview is the belief that reality is nothing but the
corporateworld and that whatever isnot part of that world must be madeto conform
toit—hence, thedesiretoredefinehigher educationincorporateterms.” (Edler, 2004,
p. 101). HR' seffortsto insinuate its authoritarian corporate model inappropriately
into theaffairsof afaculty member returning to work fromamedical leave servesas
awarningthat higher education may not befar fromexperiencing thelean-and-mean
“obliterate” approach designed to re-engineer corporations in order to arrive at
“super efficiency” characterized inthefollowing metaphor: “’ In reengineering, we
carry the wounded and shoot the stragglers " (Davenport & Pruseck, 2003 as cited
inEdler, p. 96).

| despise the metaphor, but will go with it: | shot back not only to save my
position, salary and dignity, but to prevent theencroachment of corporateval uesand
processes from further shifting “from the periphery of an educational institution to
its defining center,” thus, for a time at least, preventing educational values and
processes“from becoming peripheral and perhapseven expendable” (Edler, p. 96).
Andthough| report onand critically analyzebut oneinstanceof corporateincursion
into the academic domain; unfortunately the assault occurs in multiple contexts
acrosstheacademy, and moreunfortunatestill, themovement isrelentless. Thereis
no recourse but to resist.

Note

L All individuals, other than me, mentioned inthisarticle arereferred to by pseudonym.
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